2010

# Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C., a Utah limited liability company v. ASC Utah, Inc., a Delaware corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal of the trial court's decision on cross-motions for summary judgment. Plaintiff Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C. ("Wolf Mountain") moved for partial summary judgment, and Defendant ASC Utah, Inc. ("ASCU") filed its cross-motion. The trial court held, and the parties agreed, that: (1) the contract at issue, a Leasehold Mortgage, was unambiguous; (2) the sale of ASCU to a third party was an "event of default" under the Leasehold Mortgage's "due-on-sale clause," absent the application of an exception; and (3) the Due-On-Sale Clause states that it is to be "strictly construed."

The parties' dispute centers on the Second Exception to the Due-On-Sale Clause. That provision excludes from the "events of default"

any transfer of all or substantially all of Mortgagee's [Wolf Mountain's] rights in and to the development currently known as The Canyons (including, without limitation, all of Mortgagee's [Wolf Mountain's] interest as tenant under the Ground Lease and the Mortgaged Estate) whether effected by stock or asset sale, provided that such transfer shall be expressly subject to each and every one of the liens, rights and interests of the Mortgagee under this Leasehold Mortgage.

(Exh. B at ¶ 4.A). Wolf Mountain testified that it specifically negotiated this provision so that a sale of a controlling interest in ASCU was not an "event of default" when Wolf Mountain's rights in The Canyons were also concurrently sold, so long as such transfer was subject to all of Wolf Mountain's obligations and rights under the Leasehold Mortgage.

However, ASCU has argued that the text of the Second Exception should be altered to reflect what it asserted was the "only logical" way that the Second Exception

should have been written – i.e., to exclude from the “events of default” specific sales of ASCU’s interests, not Wolf Mountain’s.

Although it sought what was, in reality, a reformation of the Second Exception, ASCU did not meet the requirements for reformation. ASCU did not argue, let alone prove, by clear and convincing evidence, either “mutual mistake” by both parties or its own “unilateral mistake” and fraud or inequitable conduct by Wolf Mountain. In fact, ASCU did not even plead “mistake” as an affirmative defense in its Answer, let alone plead it with particularity, as required by Rule 9. Thus, under Rule 12(h), that defense is waived.

Nevertheless, the trial court held *sua sponte* that, under its new “lack of clarity” standard, the Second Exception should be reformed. (Exh. A at 16-19). In the alternative, the trial court held that “some type of equitable formation is allowed,” and that some type of “mutual mistake” must have occurred “to the extent that is necessary to accomplish this type of reformation.” (*Id.* at 20). Although the court conceded that such was “not a traditional ‘mutual mistake,’” it held that the terms of the Leasehold Mortgage showed that ASCU’s proposed reformation of the Second Exception was the writing that fit the purposes of most leasehold mortgages. (*See id.*).

However, Utah courts do not recognize a “lack of clarity” standard for reforming contracts. In fact, absent fraud, courts are extremely reluctant to intervene in a freely-negotiated, fully-executed written contract among sophisticated businesspersons and change that contract’s terms; they only do so under specific circumstances of “unilateral mistake” or “mutual mistake.” Parties seeking reformation must plead “mistake” with



particularity and prove such by clear and convincing evidence. But ASCU did not even refer to “mistake” in its summary judgment memoranda, let alone plead it in its Answer. The trial court did not identify how ASCU’s proposed reformation was agreed to by the parties, but then not memorialized in the Leasehold Mortgage. Thus, the Second Exception should not be changed to reflect what ASCU now claims to be that provision’s “true purpose.” Instead, it should be interpreted according to its plain terms, just as they were after the parties executed the Leasehold Mortgage after extensive negotiation and representation by competent legal counsel.

In addition, in deciding to reform the Leasehold Mortgage, the trial court stated that it was not reviewing extrinsic evidence; it was only considering the terms of the Leasehold Mortgage itself. However, the trial court repeatedly supported its decision to reform the Leasehold Mortgage by citing agreements, depositions, and other statements outside of the Leasehold Mortgage that ASCU had proposed – including its unsworn “declaration” – while simultaneously ignoring sworn statements and other evidence provided by Wolf Mountain. This was a failure to obey Rule 56(c)’s requirement to consider “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits” in rendering summary judgment, viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c). Furthermore, extrinsic evidence must be considered in the context of reformation due to mistake, since by definition, the terms of the contract may not show what the parties actually intended.

In sum, ASCU has failed to plead or prove “mistake” – that the Second Exception did not reflect what the parties intended – and has in fact waived such defense. Thus, this

Court should hold that the trial court improperly reformed the Leasehold Mortgage, the sale of ASCU was an “event of default,” and Wolf Mountain’s motion for partial summary judgment should be granted. However, at a minimum, this Court should hold that the trial court erred in refusing to consider Wolf Mountain’s affidavit, deposition, and other evidence in determining whether “mistake” occurred warranting reformation, and thus reverse the trial court’s decision granting summary judgment to ASCU.

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court’s jurisdiction arises under Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103 (2009).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

**Issue #1:** Whether the trial court erred in applying a “lack of clarity” standard for the reformation of the parties’ Leasehold Mortgage.

#### **Standard of Review.**

“[W]hether the trial court applied the proper legal standard is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness.” *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 19, 100 P.3d 1177 (citing *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994)); *see also Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Salt Lake City*, 2004 UT App 436, ¶ 7, 104 P.3d 646 (“The articulation of a proper legal standard is a question of law, which we review for correctness.”).

**Preservation in the Trial Court:** The standard for reformation was the subject of Wolf Mountain’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 254-257), and of the trial court’s decision below (*See* the trial court’s Ruling and Order dated March 26, 2010 at 16-17 and 19-20, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”; *see also* R. 299-321).

**Issue #2:** Whether the trial court erred in holding that a “mutual mistake” had occurred in the parties’ drafting of the Second Exception to the Leasehold Mortgage’s Due-On-Sale Clause.

**Standard of Review.** A trial court’s determination as to whether a “mutual mistake” has occurred is a “question[] of law that we will review for correctness.” *Am. Towers Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. CCI Mechanical, Inc.*, 930 P.2d 1182 (Utah 1996); *see also Klas v. Van Wagoner*, 829 P.2d 135, 138 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (reviewing the court’s determination of “unilateral mistake” as a legal conclusion, which was “accorded no particular deference; we review them for correctness.”). In addition, “If a trial court interprets the plain language of a written contract as a matter of law, ‘we accord its construction no particular weight and review its actions under a correction-of-error standard.’ ” *Am. Interstate Mortg. Corp. v. Edwards*, 2002 UT App 16 ¶ 12, 41 P.3d 1142 (quoting *Embassy Group v. Hatch*, 865 P.2d 1366, 1369 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)).

**Preservation in the Trial Court:** This standard for reformation was the subject of Wolf Mountain’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 254-257), and of the trial court’s decision below (Exh. A at 16-20).

**Issue #3:** Whether the trial court erred in declining to consider extrinsic evidence provided by Wolf Mountain in rendering summary judgment against Wolf Mountain on the ground of mutual mistake.

**Standard of Review.** A trial court’s decision to exclude a certain type of evidence is reviewed for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. *See Gallegos ex rel. Rynes v. Dick Simon Trucking, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 322 ¶¶ 8-9, 110 P.3d 710.

Furthermore, “[i]n the context of a summary judgment motion, we likewise employ a correctness standard and ‘view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.’” *R.A. McKell Excavating, Inc. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 2004 UT 48, ¶ 7, 100 P.3d 1159 (quoting *Hermansen v. Tasulis*, 2002 UT 52, ¶ 10, 48 P.3d 235). Summary judgment shall be granted only if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and [if] the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c). In determining whether the trial court correctly found that there were no genuine issues of material fact, the Court reviews the trial court’s conclusions of law for correctness, including its conclusion that there are no material fact issues. *See Neiderhauser Bldrs. & Dev. Corp. v. Campbell*, 824 P.2d 1193, 1196 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Preservation in the Trial Court: The standard for reformation was the subject of Wolf Mountain’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 254-257). In its Ruling and Order, the trial court newly decided not to consider any extrinsic evidence (Exh. A at 20, 21).

**Issue #4**: Whether the trial court erred in reforming the Second Exception to the Due-On-Sale Clause in the parties’ Leasehold Mortgage.

Standard of Review.

This Court “review[s] a district court’s conclusions of law for correctness, affording the trial court no deference.” *Dixon Bldg., LLC v. Jefferson*, 2010 UT App 34, ¶ 7, 227 P.3d 266. This Court likewise accords no deference to the trial court regarding its “resolution of the legal issues presented[,] and [it] determines only whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law.” *Ervin v. Lowe’s Cos.*, 2005 UT App 463, ¶ 8,

128 P.3d 11 (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court also reviews a trial court's interpretation of a contract for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court. *See Sackler v. Savin*, 897 P.2d 1217, 1220 (Utah 1995). "If a trial court interprets the plain language of a written contract as a matter of law, 'we accord its construction no particular weight and review its actions under a correction-of-error standard.' " *Am. Interstate Mortg. Corp. v. Edwards*, 2002 UT App 16 ¶ 12, 41 P.3d 1142 (quoting *Embassy Group v. Hatch*, 865 P.2d 1366, 1369 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)).

Preservation in the Trial Court: This issue was the subject of Wolf Mountain's Motion (R. 254-257), and the trial court's decision below (Exh. A at 16-20).

### **DETERMINATIVE LEGAL PROVISIONS**

#### **Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(a)-(c):**

(a) *For claimant.* A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof.

(b) *For defending party.* A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move for summary judgment as to all or any part thereof.

(c) *Motion and proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(a)-(c).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. Nature of the Case.**

Wolf Mountain leases real property located in Summit County to ASCU pursuant to a certain “Ground Lease.” The Ground Lease includes property on which The Canyons Resort is located. Among its obligations to Wolf Mountain, ASCU is required to deliver certain real property and development rights to Wolf Mountain (the “100 Unit Obligation”). To secure the 100 Unit Obligation, ASCU, as the “Mortgagee,” executed a Leasehold Mortgage in favor of Wolf Mountain, the “Mortgagor.” Paragraph 4.A of the Leasehold Mortgage provides that it is an “event of default” thereunder when a controlling ownership in ASCU is sold to a third party (the “Due-On-Sale Clause”).

A third party, Talisker Canyons Finance Co., LLC (“Talisker”), purchased a controlling interest in ASCU. Accordingly, Wolf Mountain declared a default under the Leasehold Mortgage and filed this litigation. ASCU asserts that the second-listed exception to the Due-On-Sale Clause (the “Second Exception”) applies to it, relieving it of any default under the Leasehold Mortgage. ASCU contends that it does not make sense for the Second Exception to be applied in favor of Wolf Mountain, despite the fact that the Second Exception specifically states that it refers to Wolf Mountain – not ASCU. Wolf Mountain asserts that the Second Exception was intended to mean exactly what it says, that it was intended to avoid a default if Wolf Mountain’s interest in The Canyons were sold, that it was extensively discussed and negotiated by the parties and their legal counsel, and that the parties agreed that the paragraph containing it would be strictly

construed. Both parties agree that the terms of the Leasehold Mortgage are unambiguous.

**B. Course of Proceedings.**

Following discovery, Wolf Mountain filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, seeking an order declaring that (i) the Leasehold Mortgage that is the subject of this litigation is unambiguous and fully enforceable as written; and (ii) therefore, the sale of all of the outstanding stock of ASCU to Talisker constitutes an Event of Default pursuant to Paragraph 4(A). (R. 184-192). ASCU then filed its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 193-195). On March 22, 2010, the trial court held a hearing regarding those two motions. (Exh. A at 1).

**C. Disposition in the Trial Court.**

On March 26, 2010 the district court issued its Ruling and Order, denying Wolf Mountain's Motion for Summary Judgment and granting ASCU's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. (Exh. A at 21). The trial court held that the Leasehold Mortgage was an unambiguous, integrated contract. (*See id.* at 11-13). The court ordered that either under a "lack of clarity" standard or the law of reformation, the Second Exception to the Due-On-Sale Clause of the Leasehold Mortgage should be reformed to replace Wolf Mountain, the "Mortgagor," with ASCU, the "Mortgagee," on the ground that "some type of reformation" was required based on something that was "not a traditional 'mutual mistake.'" (*Id.* at 16-18) The trial court also held that the sale of ASCU to Talisker, after the Leasehold Mortgage was reformed, was no longer an "event of

default” under the Leasehold Mortgage. (*Id.* at 21). The trial court stated that it declined to consider extrinsic evidence in rendering its decision. (*See id.*)

**D. Statement of Facts.**

In 1997, pursuant to a certain “Ground Lease,” Wolf Mountain leased the real property (the “Property”) underlying what is now known as “The Canyons Ski Resort” to ASCU. (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶ 4; R. 218 at Exh. 1). The Property includes both parcels that Wolf Mountain owns and parcels that Wolf Mountain leases – which Wolf Mountain then sub-leases to ASCU. (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶ 4; R. 218 at Exh. 1 at § 1.02). One parcel leased by Wolf Mountain and then subleased to ASCU is a property called “Section 2,” which Wolf Mountain leased from the School Institutional Trust Lands Administration (“SITLA”) under the “SITLA Lease.” (R. 218 at Exh. 1 at § 1.02 and its Sch. A; R. 218 at Exh. 11). Under the Ground Lease, ASCU is required to pay Wolf Mountain annual rent payments of four percent (4%) of ASCU’s gross sales and lodging revenues at The Canyons Ski Resort, eleven percent (11%) of construction costs of certain development on the Property, and certain one-time payments when the Resort achieves specific numbers of paid skier visits in the year. (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶ 4; R. 218 at Exh. 1 at §§ 3.01, 25.01, 25.04).

In 1999, Pursuant to a Second Amendment to the Ground Lease, ASCU became obligated to grant to Wolf Mountain fee simple title to particular land on which ASCU had obtained approval to develop one hundred (100) Hotel/Lodging Units (the “100 Unit Obligation”). (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶¶ 5-6). ASCU was also obligated to secure this obligation by providing a mortgage to Wolf Mountain. (*See id.*). ASCU did not do so for



several years. (R. 218 at Exh. E at ¶¶ 7-8). After Wolf Mountain filed a Notice of Default due to this failure, on November 23, 2005, ASCU, as the “Mortgagor,” provided a certain Leasehold Mortgage to Wolf Mountain, the “Mortgagee.” (Id.; a copy of the Leasehold Mortgage is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”).

Subparagraph 4.A. of the Leasehold Mortgage states, in part:

**Any of the following shall be an event of default** (“Event of Default”):

. . . .

(iv) any sale, transfer, conveyance or assignment of all or any portion of, or any interest in, the Mortgaged Estate, or **the sale, transfer, conveyance or assignment of any controlling ownership interest in and to the Mortgagor** [ASCU] (which shall not include transfer of controlling ownership interest in the Mortgagor’s parent or shareholders).

(Exh. B at ¶ 4.A.) (emphasis added). This paragraph is referred to as the “Due-On-Sale Clause.” Subparagraph 4.A. of the Leasehold Mortgage further states: **“The terms of this Paragraph A. shall be strictly construed . . . .”** (Exh. B at ¶ 4.A.) (emphasis added).

On the date that ASCU executed the Leasehold Mortgage, American Skiing Company, Inc. (“ASC”) owned a controlling interest in ASCU. (R. 218 at Exh. E at ¶ 27). Subsequently, ASC entered into an agreement to sell to Talisker Canyons Finance Co., LLC (“Talisker”) its controlling interest in ASCU (the “Talisker Purchase”). (Id.). ASC has since closed the Talisker Purchase and no longer owns a controlling interest in ASCU. (Id.; Exh. A at 13 (“The default at issue here is whether ASCU sold its stock or assets. It did beyond dispute.”)).

Wolf Mountain asserted that the Talisker Purchase was an “event of default” under the Leasehold Mortgage. (Exh. B at ¶ 4.A.). ASCU responded by asserting that the

Talisker Purchase was not an “event of default” because it met the terms of the second listed exception in the Due-On-Sale Clause (the “Second Exception”). (*Id.*). However, the Second Exception states that the sale of a controlling interest in ASCU is not an “event of default” when Wolf Mountain’s rights in The Canyons are also concurrently sold. Specifically, that provision states that no “event of default” occurs upon:

(ii) any transfer of all or substantially all of Mortgagee’s [Wolf Mountain’s] rights in and to the development currently known as The Canyons (including, without limitation, all of Mortgagee’s [Wolf Mountain’s] interest as tenant under the Ground Lease and the Mortgaged Estate) whether effected by stock or asset sale, provided that such transfer shall be expressly subject to each and every one of the liens, rights and interests of the Mortgagee under this Leasehold Mortgage

(Exh. B at ¶ 4.A). Wolf Mountain is indisputably the “Mortgagee” in the Leasehold Mortgage. (Exh. B at 1). Thus, this provision explicitly states that the sale of a controlling interest in ASCU is not an “event of default” if it also concurrently transfers Wolf Mountain’s rights in The Canyons, as long as such transfer is subject to all of Wolf Mountain’s obligations and rights under the Leasehold Mortgage. (Exh. B at ¶ 4.A).

Wolf Mountain specifically negotiated for and received the Due-on-Sale Provision of the Leasehold Mortgage because it was critical to Wolf Mountain that ASCU be specifically obligated to provide the 100 Units, water and infrastructure to Wolf Mountain. (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶¶ 16-17 and Exhs. 7-10). The Due-On-Sale Clause was particularly important to Wolf Mountain in light of the pending insolvency of ASCU’s then-parent company, ASC. (R. 218 at Exh. 5 at ¶ 17). In June 2007, American Skiing Company approved and announced a plan of dissolution and liquidation pursuant to

which the company would go out of business and liquidate all of its assets, including several ski resorts. (*See id.*).

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