2010

Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C., v. ASC Utah, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Moreover, the district court’s analysis was correct in determining that the plain language of the Leasehold Mortgage demonstrated that Wolf has no “interest in the Mortgaged Estate,” and thus could not trigger the Due-on-

Sale clause by transferring it. The Leasehold Mortgage defines “Mortgaged Estate” as “all of Mortgagor’s [ASCU’s] right, title and interest in and to” the SITLA Lease. (Leasehold Mortgage at § 1). Additionally, the Amended and Restated SITLA Lease also clearly defines ASCU as “Lessee,” or tenant, and not Wolf. *SITLA Lease No. 419* at 1, attached as Exhibit B to Brief of Appellant. Thus, pursuant to the plain, unambiguous language, the Second Exception’s reference to “Mortgagee’s interest as tenant under the Ground Lease and the Mortgaged Estate” necessarily must refer to ASCU’s interests.

The district court should, therefore, be affirmed.

b. Wolf’s Tortured Interpretation Ignores Material Parts of the Second Exception and Creates a Nonsensical Result.

The terms “Mortgagor” and “Mortgagee” later in the Second Exception confirm that the first two iterations of “Mortgagee’s” were erroneous and unintended. When interpreting contract language, Utah courts must “look[] at the entire contract and all of its parts in relation to each other, giving an objective and reasonable construction to the contract as a whole.” *Sears v. Riemersma*, 65 P.2d at 1108. Wolf’s tortured reading of the Second Exception robs the Second Exception of an “objective and reasonable construction,” to say nothing of the Leasehold Mortgage as a whole.

Read with the scrivener’s error, the Second Exception would allow Wolf to transfer its interest in The Canyons so long as the transfer is subject to the

“liens, rights and interests” of Wolf under the Leasehold Mortgage.

Conditioning Wolf’s transfer of its own interests on compliance with Wolf’s rights and interest under the Leasehold Mortgage is absurd. However, creating an exception to default for the transfer of ASCU’s interest in The Canyons provided that the transfer is subject to the rights and interests of Wolf under the Leasehold Mortgage makes sense and is reasonable, as the district court acknowledged. (R. 134, “subjecting a transfer of Wolf’s rights in and to the development currently known as The Canyons to Wolf’s liens, rights and interests under the Leasehold Mortgage, is not logical and is somewhat nonsensical.”)

Moreover, Wolf’s reading creates an irreconcilable inconsistency within the Second Exception. The Second Exception states that a transfer of “substantially all” of “Mortgagee’s” assets shall constitute an event of default, but goes on to state: “‘substantially all’ shall include all of the assets held by Mortgagor [ASCU] which are necessary for unimpeded operation and development of The Canyons resort as it currently exists or may be improved.” (*Id.*) (emphasis added). If the second sentence is properly drafted, which neither party disputes, it confirms that the reference in the first sentence to “Mortgagee’s” was necessarily a scrivener’s error.

Contracts must be construed in a manner that harmonizes their various provisions and avoids an absurd result. *See Olympus Hills*, 889 P.2d

at 458 (stating courts should avoid unreasonable interpretations when a contract provision would reduce the contract to absurdity) (citing *Barnhart v. McKinney*, 682 P.2d 112, 120 (Kan. 1984)); see also *Burt*, 143 P. at 236 (“In arriving at a conclusion [as to the meaning of a contract] all the words and expressions used by the parties in the contract must be given full force and effect, unless to do so leads to an absurdity or is contrary to the manifest purpose and intention of the parties.”) Wolf’s interpretation is unreasonable because it would create an absurdity, by requiring Wolf to place a condition on itself to not transfer its interests without protecting them and by creating an irreconcilable inconsistency within the Second Exception with respect to the phrase “substantially all of ASCU’s assets.”

c. Wolf’s Interpretation is Inconsistent With the Purpose of the Due On Sale Clause and Exceptions.

There are multiple other problems with Wolf’s literal interpretation of the Due-on-Sale clause in conjunction with the Second Exception.

Under Wolf’s indefensible reading of the Due-on-Sale clause, default would be triggered by the sale of either any interest in the Mortgaged Estate or a controlling interest in ASCU, *unless* such involves a transfer of *all* of Wolf Mountain’s rights in The Canyons. (Wolf Brief at 33). But Wolf’s contorted analysis in its Brief ignores the first part of the clause (“any sale, transfer, conveyance or assignment of all or any portion of, or any interest in,

the Mortgaged Estate”), insisting that only the second part of the clause is implicated here. (See Wolf Brief at 33, “the only trigger at issue in this case is the sale of ASCU”). Wolf maintains that it has an interest in the Mortgaged Estate. (Wolf Brief at 30, “it cannot seriously be argued that Wolf Mountain ‘has no interest in the Mortgaged Estate.’”) Therefore, the reading proffered by Wolf of the Due-on-Sale clause and the Second Exception permit Wolf to trigger a default by transferring less than “all or substantially all” of its rights “in and to” The Canyons. Wolf’s reading would thus allow Wolf to trigger a default of the Leasehold Mortgage and then, as the defaulting party, foreclose and/or accelerate the benefits due from ASCU. Wolf dismisses such a scenario as “speculative” and “hypothetical,” (Wolf Brief at 33), but it is plainly the consequence of Wolf’s interpretation of the Second Exception.

More importantly, Wolf’s reading would subvert the purpose of due-on-sale clauses and render a portion of the Second Exception extraneous. If read literally, the Second Exception would carve out an exception to default for a transfer of Wolf’s interest in The Canyons—which makes no sense. Under that interpretation, Wolf would be agreeing to not hold itself in default. But under the correct, intended meaning of the Second Exception, a sale or transfer of Wolf’s interest would not run afoul of the Due-on-Sale clause. This is because, as set forth above, the purpose of a due-on-sale clause is to protect a mortgagee—here, Wolf—by limiting the ability of a mortgagor—ASCU—to

sell or transfer the mortgaged property. Accordingly, under a proper reading of the Due-on-Sale clause, two situations could give rise to a default: (1) “any sale, transfer or assignment of all or any portion of, or any interest in, the Mortgaged Estate,” i.e., ASCU’s interest in the SITLA Lease, and (2) “the sale, transfer, conveyance or assignment of any controlling ownership interest in and to the Mortgagor [ASCU]. . . .” (Leasehold Mortgage at § 4(A)(iv)). Nothing in the Leasehold Mortgage, as properly constructed, provides that a transfer of Wolf’s interest triggers the Due-on-Sale clause or otherwise constitutes a default. Thus, Wolf’s tortured readings of the Due-on-Sale clause and Second Exception cannot be rationalized.

The remedy sections of the Leasehold Mortgage also sustain the district court’s and ASCU’s reading of the Due-on-Sale clause. Section 4.B of the Leasehold Mortgage states that in the event of a default, Wolf may foreclose the mortgage and shall have the immediate right to receive and collect rent, income and profits from the Mortgaged Estate. There are no remedy provisions in ASCU’s favor.

Further, the phrase “whether effected by stock or asset sale” in the first sentence of the Second Exception is also telling. As the district court observed, “Wolf as a limited liability Wolf has no stock, but ASCU as a corporation does have stock.” (R.313). Thus, as applied to a sale or transfer of Wolf’s interests, the stock language has no meaning, but as applied to a sale

or transfer of the interests of ASCU, the added language makes complete sense, particularly given ASCU's right under Section 10.02 of the Ground Lease to assign its interests in the Ground Lease by stock or asset sale.

The district court correctly rejected Wolf's interpretation because it is unreasonable and reduces the provision to an absurdity. *See, e.g., Olympus Hills*, 889 P.2d at 458.

d. ASCU's Stock Sale Was not a Default Because it Complied with the Second Exception as the Parties Intended it to Read.

Because the district court determined that the parties intended that a sale of ASCU's assets or stock is not an event of default so long as Wolf's rights under the mortgage are protected, it properly entered summary judgment in ASCU's favor.

First, the Talisker Sale Agreement provides for the transfer of 100% of ASCU's outstanding capital stock from ASC to Talisker. (Talisker Sale Agreement at §§ 2.1, 3.2). Necessarily, the transaction "transfer[s] . . . all . . . of [ASCU's] rights in and to the development currently known as The Canyons." (Leasehold Mortgage at § 4.A). Second, the Talisker Sale Agreement clearly and unambiguously binds Talisker to each and every one of the liens, rights, and interests of Wolf under the Leasehold Mortgage. It states:

9.16. Leasehold Mortgage. The Buyers acknowledge that pursuant to that certain Leasehold Mortgage by and between [ASCU], as mortgagor, and Wolf, as mortgagee, dated as of November 23, 2005 (the “Leasehold Mortgage”), the transfer of title to Buyer is subject to each and every one of the liens, rights and interests of Wolf under the Leasehold Mortgage and each and every one of the liens, rights and interests of Wolf under the Leasehold Mortgage shall survive Closing.

(Talisker Sale Agreement at § 9.16).

Because the Talisker Sale Agreement expressly meets the requirements of the Second Exception, ASC’s transfer of all of ASCU’s outstanding capital stock to Talisker Canyons does not constitute a default under the Leasehold Mortgage. Accordingly, Wolf’s foreclosure complaint fails as an undisputed matter of fact and law, and summary judgment was properly granted in ASCU’s favor.

B. Reformation Analysis is Inapposite

Wolf insists that the court below erred because it reformed the Leasehold Mortgage despite the fact that ASCU never alleged or satisfied the legal prerequisites for reformation based on mutual mistake. (Wolf Brief at 18-35). The district court did not “reform” the Leasehold Mortgage in contravention to Utah law, it simply applied the rules of contract interpretation. It did, however, avoid the absurd, untenable results that Wolf’s literal reading would have produced.

Utah courts are charged with interpreting contracting parties' intent as expressed by the language of their agreement. *See e.g., Glenn v. Reese*, 2009 UT 80; *Cafe Rio, Inc. v. Larkin-Gifford-Overton, LLC*, 2009 UT 27, ¶ 25, 207 P.3d 1235 (2009). Thus, as the district court properly stated, “[t]he court is to avoid an unreasonable interpretation.” (R. 303). *See also Olympus Hills*, 889 P.2d at 458 (stating courts should avoid unreasonable interpretations when a provisions would reduce the contract to absurdity); *LDS Hosp., Div. of Intermountain Health*, 765 P.2d at 859 (“a construction which contradicts the general purpose of the contract or results in a hardship or absurdity is presumed to be unintended by the parties.”)

In particular, it is well-established that where a typographical or clerical error makes a particular term or phrase inconsistent with the whole contract, courts are authorized to correct the error and arrive at a reasonable construction. *Restatement (Second) of Contracts*, § 202 cmt. d.⁶ “A written contract should be construed according to the obvious intention of the parties, notwithstanding clerical errors or inadvertent omissions therein which can be corrected by perusing the whole instrument.” *AmJur2d Contracts* § 373; *see also Starr v. Union Pacific Railroad Corp.*, 75P.3d 266, 269 (Kan. App. 2003)

⁶ Utah courts routinely look to *Restatement (Second)* § 202 when determining how to harmonize disparate provisions of a contract. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc.*, 818 P.2d 997, 1003 n. 27 (Utah 1991); *Property Assistance Corp. v. Roberts*, 768 P.2d 976, 979 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

(citing *Brown v. Lang*, 675 P.2d 842 (Kan. 1984) (typographical error in contract does not necessarily render the contract ambiguous)); and *Doe v. Texas Ass'n of School Boards, Inc.*, 283 S.W.3d 451 (Tex. App. Fort Worth 2009) (noting that typographical mistakes must “yield to the well-established doctrine that written contracts will be construed according to the intention of the parties, notwithstanding errors and omissions, by perusing the entire document” (quoting *City of Galveston v. Galveston Mun. Police Ass'n*, 57 S.W.3d 532, 539 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2001))).

Not surprisingly, other courts have had the occasion to employ these same tenets of contract interpretation in the context of a mix-up of “-ee” for “-or” terms, similar to the issue presented with the instant leasehold mortgage. For instance, in *Roth v. Phillips Petroleum Company*, 739 S.W.2d 598 (Mo. App. 1987) the court interpreted a lease, determining that the contract was not ambiguous even though it contained the word “lessor” where logically the word “lessee” should have appeared in the options to renew provision. *Id.* at 600. Similar to the instant action, the lessor in *Roth* argued that the use of “-or” term in place of the “-ee” term created an ambiguity requiring the consideration of extrinsic evidence. The appellate court affirmed the trial court’s holding “that the word ‘lessor’ was a typographical error and should be interpreted as ‘lessee’” and held that the trial court would only resort to extrinsic evidence if it had found an ambiguity. *Id.*

The Mississippi Supreme Court has similarly upheld a trial court's interpretation of a lease in which the term "grantee" was used in a provision which should have read "grantor." See *Robinson v. Martel Enterprises, Inc.*, 337 So.2d 698 (Miss. 1976). The Court applied the general rule that: "[t]he intention of the parties must be collected from the whole agreement, and every word therein must be given effect, if possible, and be made to operate according to the intention of the parties." *Id.* at 701 (citation omitted). In construing the provision to read "grantor" instead of "grantee," the Court found that: "No apparent purpose would be served if [grantee] gave notice to himself of his intent to exercise the option. With the word 'grantee' in the clause, it has no meaning or purpose, but when the word 'grantor' is substituted, the clause becomes clear and its meaning readily ascertainable." *Id.*

As in *Roth* and *Robinson*, the district court simply applied well-settled rules of contract interpretation to reach the only reasonable interpretation of the Due-on-Sale Clause, ascertaining the intention of the parties from the entire agreement on its face. Thus, Wolf's lengthy exposition on the law of contract reformation is misplaced. The district court did not purport to reform the Leasehold Mortgage and explicitly stated as much:

The court does not believe it is indeed involved in a reformation as that concept is normally meant. The court finds and concludes, FROM THE ENTIRETY OF THE

CONTRACT ON ITS FACE, that such was intended and the error of placing “ee” rather than “or” was the product of confusion or a scrivener’s error.

(R. 317) (emphasis in original). By finding that the parties erroneously transposed “-ee” and “-or” in the first two instances of the Second Exception, the district court recognized and corrected what the Utah Supreme Court in *Guardian State Bank v. F.C. Stangl III*, 778 P.2d 1 (Utah 1989), called “a mistake in recordation or memorialization of an agreement.” It would have been error to grant Wolf’s Rule 56 motion by slavishly applying the obvious typographical errors in the Second Exception. The district court’s avoidance of an “unreasonable interpretation” did not, therefore, run afoul of reformation doctrine; rather, it comported with Utah law on contract interpretation.⁷

⁷ Wolf spends considerable time arguing that ASCU waived an affirmative defense of mistake by not asserting it in its answer, but this issue was never raised below and it is inappropriate for Wolf to rely upon such a theory on appeal. *See State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 22, 128 P.3d 1171 (“[U]nder ordinary circumstances, we will not consider an issue brought for the first time on appeal” (internal quotation marks omitted)). The trial court never made any such finding of waiver, has not had the opportunity to address the potential applicability of Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, any facts giving rise to such a defense were not known until after ASCU responded to Wolf’s complaint. Moreover, as the Utah Supreme Court has recognized, “the policy of our rules of procedure is to decide cases on the merits rather than pleading technicalities.” *Guardian State Bank v. Stangl*, 778 P.2d at 8. A court may “reform a document if a mutual mistake is established, even if the issue of mutual mistake was not raised and reformation was not demanded in the pleadings.” *Id.* (citing *Mabey v. Kay Peterson Constr. Co.*, 682 P.2d 287, 290 (Utah 1984)).

C. *The District Court Did Not Employ a “Lack of Clarity” Standard*

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